STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

05-23-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2014AP481-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS.-

JASON S. VANDYKE,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION FILED ON FEBRUARY 11, 2013, AND THE ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF FILED ON FEBRUARY 6, 2014, IN THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. GRITTON, PRESIDING. WINNEBAGO COUNTY CASE NO. 2012CF431

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND SHORT APPENDIX

Respectfully submitted:

LAW OFFICE OF MATTHEW S. PINIX, LLC
1200 East Capitol Drive, Suite 220
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53211
T: 414.963.6164
F: 414.967.9169

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. WHETHER VANDYKE'S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE INSOFAR AS HE FAILED TO RECOGNIZE THE LACK OF SPECIFICITY IN THE INFORMATION, JURY INSTRUCTIONS, AND VERDICT FORM AS A DOUBLE JEOPARDY PROBLEM, AND THEN HIS FAILURE TO OBJECT ALLOWED THE JURY TO FIND VANDYKE GUILTY ON A DISUNITED VERDICT?

Following a Machner¹ hearing, the circuit court concluded that counsel was not ineffective.

II. WHETHER VANDYKE'S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE INSOFAR AS HE DID NOT OBJECT TO THE MEDICAL EXAMINER'S TESTIMONY ABOUT TESTIMONIAL HEARSAY STATEMENTS IN AN OUTSIDE LABORATORY'S TOXICOLOGY REPORT THAT WAS INTRODUCED INTO EVIDENCE AND USED TO PROVE THAT THE VICTIM DIED OF A HEROIN OVERDOSE?

Following a *Machner* hearing, the circuit court concluded that counsel was not ineffective.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Insofar as this case involves argument about the confrontation clause and testimonial hearsay statements made by an expert other than the expert who testified at trial, VanDyke believes that oral argument may assist this Court in understanding the issues presented.

At present, the legal rules governing testimonial hearsay statements are a confusing mess. While counsel for the parties will undoubtedly try their best to answer what questions they anticipate the panel may have, the issue presented poses a question that very likely may generate unanticipated questions that could go unaddressed but for oral argument. Insofar as oral argument would allow the panel to query counsel for both parties on any pertinent but

¹ State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

unanswered questions that may arise, oral argument may be appropriate. VanDyke therefore requests it.

VanDyke believes the Court's opinion in the instant case will meet the criteria for publication. No case has before decided the issue of duplicity and the failure to instruct on multiple theories of the offense in a Len Bias homicide, see Wis. Stat. § 940.02(2)(a) (reckless homicide by delivery of controlled substance). Similarly, the confrontation clause issue presents a fact pattern distinguishable from those cases to have previously dealt with the issue. The issues presented herein are thus novel and warrant publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE, PROCEDURAL STATUS, AND DISPOSITION BELOW

Jason S. VanDyke was prosecuted in the instant case for the heroin-overdose death of Cole Trittin. R.I, A. Ap. I. The State alleged that VanDyke delivered to Trittin the heroin that ended up killing him. *Id.*

VanDyke went to trial with counsel. *See* R.76:1. In the midst of trial, the parties resolved the matter by a negotiated plea agreement, but the circuit court rejected their agreement as contrary to the public interest. R.76:119-27. The jury convicted Vandyke, R.25, A. Ap. 25, and he was sentenced to twenty-years imprisonment, with fifteen years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision, R.79:26.

VanDyke exercised his direct appeal rights, R.49, and filed a postconviction motion, alleging the same claims he asserts herein, R.56. The circuit court held a *Machner* hearing at which VanDyke's counsel was the only witness. R.80. Following supplemental briefing, the same judge that rejected the plea agreement as contrary to the public interest denied VanDyke's postconviction motion on the ground that he could not show that his counsel was deficient. R.81, A. Ap. 89-93.

VanDyke appeals. R.66.

II. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Cole Trittin fatally overdosed on heroin on April 13, 2011. R.77:240. The State charged Jason VanDyke with his death under the state's Len Bias law, Wis. Stat. § 940.02(2)(a) (reckless homicide by delivery of controlled substance), alleging that VanDyke delivered him heroin on the day of his death. R.1:1, A. Ap. 1. However, the manner of that delivery was unclear in the criminal complaint. R.1:2-3, 5-6, A. Ap. 2-3, 5-6. The State offered two theories regarding how it may have occurred, each differing in time, location, and persons involved. See id.

First, the State alleged that delivery occurred through a third party, Zach Jungwirth. R.1:2-3, A. Ap. 2-3. According to this theory, Jungwirth took heroin out of VanDyke's vehicle during the day of April 13th while it was parked in Oshkosh, Wisconsin, at VanDyke's place of employment. *Id.* Jungwirth then gave some of that heroin to Trittin, which later caused his death (hereinafter referred to as "the Jungwirth delivery"). *Id.* Under the State's second theory, VanDyke directly delivered heroin to Trittin at a park-and-ride in Winneconne, Wisconsin, on the night of April 13th (hereinafter referred to as "the park-and-ride delivery"). R.1:5-6, A. Ap. 5-6.

Despite the two theories of delivery, the State charged VanDyke with only one count of reckless homicide. R.8, A. Ap. 8. However, the State did not specifically allege which of the two deliveries purportedly resulted in Trittin's death. See id. The information reads as follows:

The above-named defendant on or about Wednesday, April 13, 2011, in the City of Oshkosh, Winnebago County, Wisconsin, did cause the death of COLE R. TRITTIN, by the delivery or manufacture of a Schedule I or II controlled substance, Heroin, in violation of sec. 961.41 Wis. Stats., which COLE R. TRITTIN used, dying as a result of that use, contrary to sec. 940.02(2)(a), 939.50(3)(c) Wis. Stats., a Class C Felony, and upon conviction may be fined not more than One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000), or imprisoned not more than forty (40) years, or both.

Id. (stricken language in original). As shown by its plain language, the information does not make clear whether the State was alleging VanDyke's guilt based on the Jungwirth delivery or the park-and-ride delivery. Id. VanDyke's trial counsel made no objection to the lack of specificity in the information.

In fact, counsel had not recognized as a constitutional problem the lack of specificity in the information. R.80:46. He thus did not "think to object to any lack of specificity in [the information]." R.80:9. Trial counsel was not "thinking about it in the framework of a constitutional issue," but rather viewed the State's dual charging "as a proof issue." *Id.* "[T]he constitutionality of the [information, verdict form, and jury instructions] wasn't being considered." R.80:47.

At trial, the State proceeded as though VanDyke was charged with both deliveries. In opening statements, the State told the jurors that they would hear evidence of both. R.76:69-70, 71-72, A. Ap. 30-31, 32-33. VanDyke's roommate, Eric Brown, would tell the jury that VanDyke admitted Jungwirth's removal of heroin from his jeep while he was at work. R.76:72-73, A. Ap. 33-34. Wyatt Farley would admit to being with Jungwirth and Trittin when Jungwirth took the heroin from VanDyke's jeep. R.76:69-70, A. Ap. 30-31. Trittin's father would explain how he took Trittin to the park-and-ride where Trittin met briefly with VanDyke, and then later died of a heroin overdose. R.76:71-72, A. Ap. 32-33.

VanDyke's counsel recognized in his opening statement the State's "two potential theories" of delivery. R.76:77, A. Ap. 38. He explained:

[The prosecutor]'s theory to the Court is or to you is that one of two things happened essentially. Quite honestly because the State isn't quite sure and they are going to take a guess at one or two of them and hope you fill in the gaps there that, well, maybe between one or two of these possible situations maybe these were the drugs that ended up in Cole Trittin's system and caused him to die even though there's no direct line showing that and you are going to see that throughout the evidence here in this case.

R.76:78, A. Ap. 39.

It is thus obvious from the parties' opening statements that VanDyke was made to defend against the two purported deliveries that were charged under the single count. At the *Machner* hearing, trial counsel confirmed that, based on the charges, he "had to present a defense . . . to deal with . . . both the earlier Zachary Jungwirth matter, . . . as well as the subsequent park-and-ride alleged delivery." R.80:9, 41.

The evidence at trial was consistent with the parties' expectation.² To prove that Trittin had died from a heroin overdose, the State introduced testimony from the chief medical examiner of the Fond du Lac County Medical Examiner's Office. R.78:228. He testified about the autopsy that he had performed on Trittin, as well as the toxicology test results that had been generated by an out-of-state lab at his request. R.78:235-36.

The medical examiner explained that the purpose of obtaining the toxicology test results was to discern whether "the toxicology [was] either directly or indirectly contributory to [Trittin's] death." R.78:236. He informed the jury that what was stated in the toxicology report showed that Trittin had heroin in his system and had died of a heroin overdose. R.78:237, 239-40.

Christopher Long, a toxicologist with "the St. Louis University Forensic Toxicology Laboratory" (hereinafter referred to as "the Lab"), had produced the toxicology report. R.78:235; see also R.31, A. Ap. 21. To prove what Long had said in his report about the contents of Trittin's blood and urine, the State introduced into evidence "three pages from [his] toxicology report." R.77:230, 241; see also R.30, A. Ap. 18-20. Long stated therein that: (1) he tested Cole Trittin's blood and urine; (2) certain substances were present in and certain substances were excluded from the samples he tested; and (3) the substances that were found occurred in certain quantities. See R.30, A. Ap. 18-20, R.31, A. Ap. 21. Long, however, did not testify at trial and was not subjected to

5

² With one exception: In opening, the State forecasted that it would be able to produce a third-party who had been present with Jungwirth and Trittin at the time of the Jungwirth delivery. That witness would tell the jury how Jungwirth had obtained heroin from Vandyke's vehicle. However, as the State later admitted, it could not produce that witness.

cross-examination. He was not even named on the State's witness list. See R.13.

VanDyke's counsel made no objection to introduction of Long's report or the statements therein. He explained at the *Machner* hearing that he did not object because "[w]e did not necessarily view the report as adverse to our strategic position." R.80:12. The toxicology report "assisted in [VanDyke's] defense," said counsel, because it tended to show that Trittin was "a junkie" who had "multiple other controlled substances" in his body at the time of his death. R.80:32-33. Trittin's "junkie" status helped the argument that "the heroin which was found or referred to in the report may have been purchased from someone other than an individual either connected with or directly Mr. Vandyke." *Id*.

Furthermore, said counsel, the report helped to dispel the notion that heroin killed Trittin:

The report itself indicated apparent consumption of not only heroin but other controlled substances as well. One of the arguments that we made was that the State was not able to prove from our perspective conclusively that it was exclusively heroin that was the contributor to the death of Cole Trittin but potentially could have been one of several other controlled substances that he had consumed.

R.80:12. Whereas the toxicology report introduced evidence that Trittin had consumed other substances besides heroin, said counsel, it helped create doubt that Trittin died from a heroin overdose. *Id.*

Trial counsel nonetheless recognized that the State relied on the toxicology "report for the purpose of establishing an element of the crime" for which VanDyke was prosecuted, namely that Trittin "had died of a heroin overdose." R.80:19. And he could remember no "other evidence in the discovery that would have allowed the State to prove the toxicity of Mr. Trittin's blood had [the toxicology] report been excluded" from evidence. R.80:21. Counsel further admitted that if the toxicology report had not been introduced into evidence, he would never have had to make the argument that he said helped his client: that the

other substances it reported in Trittin's blood diminished the likelihood that heroin caused his death. R.80:21-22.

Whatever the case, said counsel, "it was [his] belief that [the toxicology report] would be able to be brought in through the witness who did testify." R.80:32. Thus, he did not object on confrontation grounds. *Id*.

On agreement of the parties, the circuit court gave the standard instruction regarding first degree reckless homicide. See WIS JI-CRIMINAL 1021; see also R.24, A. Ap. 22. As given, the reckless homicide instruction said nothing about the purported manner of delivery. See R.24, A. Ap. 22 (requiring jury to find only that "The defendant delivered a substance"). Nor did it inform the jurors of the time, place, or date on which the State was alleging that the fatal delivery occurred. See id. The instruction says nothing about to whom VanDyke had to deliver heroin to have committed his crime, but rather allows the jury to convict him for simply having "delivered a substance" to someone. Id. (jury need find only that "Trittin used Heroin delivered by the defendant").

As for jury unanimity, only the standard unanimous verdict instruction was given. See WIS JI-CRIMINAL 515, R.24, A. Ap. 24. It, too, was mute regarding the jury's unanimous agreement as to which of the two deliveries occurred. Id. It does not demand that the jurors unanimously agree that VanDyke delivered heroin to Trittin at a particular time or location, directly or through a third party. Id. It did not demand that the jury select between the Jungwirth delivery and the park-and-ride delivery. Id. Instead, it merely advised the jurors that all twelve had to unanimously agree regarding guilty or not guilty. Id.

The verdict form submitted to the jury was similarly vague. It read, "We jury [sic] find the Defendant, Jason S. VanDyke, (not guilty/guilty) of First Degree Reckless Homicide of Cole Trittin by Delivery of Heroin, contrary to Section 940.02(2)(a), of the Wisconsin Statutes, as charged in the information." R.25, A. Ap. 25. The verdict form thus omitted the purported time, location, and type of delivery; it said nothing about which of the two deliveries constituted the basis for the jury's finding. See id.

VanDyke's counsel made no objection to either the instructions or the verdict form. (R.77:304-06.) Nor did he request the standard jury instruction that is to be given when evidence of multiple acts is introduced to prove one count—WIS JI-CRIMINAL 517.

WIS JI-CRIMINAL 517 is appropriate "where there is one charge but evidence of multiple acts [is] introduced to support the one charge." *State v. Marcum*, 166 Wis. 2d 908, 918 n.3, 480 N.W.2d 545, 551 n.3 (Ct. App. 1991). The instruction reads:

The defendant is charged with one count of _____. However, evidence has been introduced of more than one act, any one of which may constitute _____.

Before you may return a verdict of guilty, all 12 jurors must be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the same act and that the act constituted the crime charged.

WIS JI-CRIMINAL 517. However, that instruction was neither requested nor given in the instant case.

Trial counsel admitted at the *Machner* hearing that it never crossed his mind to ask for a verdict form specific as to the alleged delivery. R.80:42. Nor did it cross his mind to ask for a specific jury instruction or for WIS JI-CRIMINAL 517. R.80:9, 33, 42. He never "talked about the specificity issue and a motion specifically on that topic" with VanDyke, and he never discussed with VanDyke whether he wanted to waive his right to a unanimous jury verdict. R.80:44, 45. Counsel was not "thinking about [specificity] in the framework of a constitutional issue." R.80:46. To counsel, the issue was instead one of "proof;" it "was the entire crux of the defense." *Id*.

In closing, the State argued to the jury evidence of both the Jungwirth and park-and-ride deliveries. R.77:319-22, 326, 328, A. Ap. 46-49, 53, 55. The State told the jury that the evidence showed that VanDyke had himself delivered drugs to Trittin at the park-and-ride, R.77:321-22, A. Ap. 48-49, and that Jungwirth had obtained heroin from VanDyke's jeep with his permission, R.77:328-29, A. Ap. 55-56. The State ended its initial closing remarks by telling the jury that "Mr.

VanDyke provided heroin to Cole the meeting that night at the park-and-ride. Cole used it. Cole died." R.77:330, A. Ap. 57.

During trial counsel's closing argument, he admitted to the jury his uncertainty about which of the two deliveries the State was alleging as the basis for VanDyke's guilt:

I'm not quite sure as I stand here before you if indeed the State is now exclusively saying that the transaction where supposedly the heroin was delivered was the one at night. I think as I sit and I listened to Mr. Sparr at the conclusion of his closing argument that seems to be what he's saying. I am not quite clear about that. I know he didn't say that at the beginning of the case because as I recall he indicated to you there was one of two things that the State was arguing as far as when the supposed delivery happened that caused this heroin to end up in Cole Trittin's possession so I'm still going to focus on this earlier situation involving the supposed jeep transaction involving Zachary Jungwirth because I want to talk about this again because this is my last time to talk about it.

R.77:335-36, A. Ap. 62-63. In trial counsel's opinion, he had to address both purported deliveries during his closing argument because the jury had before it evidence of both and it was necessary to defeat the State's argument that either delivery could be the basis for a guilty verdict. R.80:55. To counsel, "it was necessary to address both [deliveries] so that [he] could wipe . . . both out from the jury" "[s]o that they didn't rely on the Jungwirth delivery" or "on the park-and-ride delivery" to convict VanDyke. *Id*.

In rebuttal, the State told the jury,

And another thing that Attorney Muza said that I agree with, the delivery that is at issue is the later one. He said the earlier one there is no evidence that that heroin gets to Cole. That situation involved Zach. We don't know what happened. I agree. The delivery that is at issue as far as heroin going to Cole is the later one, the one from the park-and-ride.

The thing about that is if Cole already has heroin, why is he meeting with Mr. Vandyke? If Cole already has heroin, he's at home using heroin, he's not taking a ride with his dad....

The only thing that explains all of [the evidence] is that last meeting was a heroin delivery. That's the heroin that Cole Trittin used. That's what killed him.

R.77:359-60, 361, A. Ap. 86-87, 88.

The jury found VanDyke guilty. R.25, A. Ap. 25. The verdict form does not indicate for what. *Id.*

VanDyke's postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance garnered a *Machner* hearing. Following that hearing, the circuit court concluded that trial counsel was not deficient with regard to the duplicity issue because "he wanted" a lack of specificity in the information, instructions, and verdict form. R.81:4, A. Ap. 91. According to the circuit court,

there was discussions with Mr. Vandyke about what the trial strategy was going to be and where they were going and how they were going to defend the case. I think under those circumstances I think it's something that I'm okay with. And that was discussed by Mr. Muza during the course of his testimony how he believed that was the best defense, just showing the State had a weak case from his perspective, and so with those comments having been said, I'm going to find that he provided effective assistance to Mr. Vandyke and they had a clear strategy going in. The strategy was done throughout the case, and the strategy quite frankly I thought was pretty effective where I sat from and, you know, I never predict one way or the other but I think he did an excellent job and under those circumstances I'm going to deny the motions.

R.81:5-6, A. Ap. 92-93.

As for the confrontation issue, the court concluded that trial counsel's choice regarding how Long's report would be handled was "a good decision on his part." R.81:3, A. Ap. 90. Said the court, "the center of this case really wasn't what the victim died from, it was whether or not there was a delivery." *Id.* The circuit court then characterized the issue of counsel's ineffectiveness as it related to Long's report not as a decision not to object to its admissibility, but rather as a "reasonable decision by an attorney not to call [a] witness" to testify. *Id.* Given that interpretation of the issue, the circuit court found that, even though "we can go back and forth, the

advantage or disadvantage of [not calling Long as a witness]," the failure to call him did not "even border on in any way being ineffective on the part of [trial counsel]." R.81:3-4, A. Ap. 90-91.

ARGUMENT

VanDyke argues herein that his counsel erred in two ways. First, he did not recognize as a constitutional problem and then object to the lack of specificity in the information, jury instructions, and verdict forms. Second, he did not object to introduction of the toxicology test results on confrontation grounds.

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