RECEIVED

07-25-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL **OF WISCONSIN**

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2014AP481-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JASON S. VANDYKE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN WINNEBAGO COUNTY, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. GRITTON, PRESIDING.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

ROBERT G. PROBST Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1063075

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-7063 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) probstrg@doj.state.wi.us

Page

STATEMENT OF THE CASE, FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

As respondent, the State exercises its option not to present a full statement of the case. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a)2. Instead, the State will present additional facts in the "Argument" portion of its brief.

ARGUMENT

VANDYKE RECEIVED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL, AND ANY ERRORS AT HIS TRIAL WERE THE PRODUCT OF SOUND TRIAL STRATEGY THAT ACTUALLY BENEFITED HIS DEFENSE.

А.	APPLICABLE	LEGAL
	PRINCIPLES	AND
	STANDARDS	OF
	REVIEW.	

1.	Regarding	
	Ineffective	
	Assistance	Of
	Counsel.	

A criminal defendant who claims his attorney was ineffective has a dual burden to prove both that his attorney's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 26, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 18, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. A claim of ineffective assistance fails if the defendant fails to prove either one of these requirements. *State v. Williams*, 2006 WI App 212, ¶ 18, 296 Wis. 2d 834, 723 N.W.2d 719. To prove that his attorney's performance was deficient, the defendant must establish that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 19; *State v. Johnson*, 133 Wis. 2d 207, 217, 395 N.W.2d 176 (1986).

The reasonableness of an attorney's acts are judged deferentially on the facts of the particular from counsel's case viewed contemporary perspective eliminate the distortion to of hindsight. State v. Maloney, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 25, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583; Johnson, 133 Wis. 2d at 217. Importantly, trial counsel's failure to make a meritless objection does not constitute deficient performance. See State v. Wheat, 2002 WI App 153, ¶ 23, 256 Wis. 2d 270, 647 N.W.2d 441.

that Indeed. to prove an attorney's performance was deficient, it is not enough for a defendant to establish merely that his attorney was not very good. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 19. Instead, the defendant must establish that his attorney's acts were outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance as illustrated by prevailing professional norms. Id.; State v. Johnson, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990). The defendant must demonstrate that his attorney made serious mistakes that could not be justified under an objective standard of reasonable judgment. See Strickland professional v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984). Further, "the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action 'might be considered sound trial strategy." Id. at 689 (citation omitted). In evaluating a deficiency claim, the court should not "second guess trial counsel's selection of trial tactics or

strategies." State v. Nielsen, 2001 WI App 192, ¶ 44, 247 Wis. 2d 466, 634 N.W.2d 325.

Secondly, the defendant must "offer more than rank speculation to satisfy the prejudice prong." State v. Erickson, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 774, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999). The test is whether "counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; Johnson, 133 Wis. 2d at 222. The defendant must show a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. "Showing prejudice means showing that counsel's alleged errors actually had some adverse effect on the defense." State v. Koller, 2001 WI App 253, ¶ 9, 248 Wis. 2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838. And when the defendant alleges that his attorney was ineffective for failing to take some action, he must show with specificity what that action would have accomplished if it had been taken, and how its accomplishment would have probably altered the of the proceeding. State v. result Byrge, 225 Wis. 2d 702, 724, 594 N.W.2d 388 (Ct. App. 1999), aff'd, 2000 WI 101, 237 Wis. 2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477.

On appellate review, ineffective assistance of counsel cases present a mixed question of fact and law. The circuit court's factual findings will be unless clearly Whether upheld erroneous. deficient counsel's performance was and prejudicial to the defense is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Mayo, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 32, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115.

2. Regarding Duplicity Challenges.

A complaint is duplicitous if:

it joins two or more distinct and separate offenses in a single count. A duplicitous charge is defective because the jury may find the defendant guilty without the state proving each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. However, "where an offense is composed of continuous acts it may be charged as one offense without rendering the charge duplicitous." The nature of the charge is a matter of election on the part of the state.

State v. Copening, 103 Wis. 2d 564, 572, 309 N.W.2d 850 (Ct. App. 1981) (citations omitted).

The discretion to join multiple acts in a single charge is "limited by the purposes of the prohibition against duplicity[.]" *State v. Lomagro*, 113 Wis. 2d 582, 588, 335 N.W.2d 583 (1983).

Those dangers include the possibility that the defendant may not be properly notified of the charges against him, that he may be subjected to double jeopardy, that he may be prejudiced by evidentiary rulings during the trial, and that he may be convicted by a less than unanimous verdict. If any of these dangers are present, the acts of the defendant should be separated into different counts even though they may represent a single, continuing scheme.

Id.

Still, in order to overcome the presumption of innocence accorded a defendant in a criminal trial, the State bears the burden of proving each essential element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. See Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 316 (1979); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970); State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 501, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

In addition to the due process requirement of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, "[t]he decisions of this court have long assumed" that a criminal defendant's right to a jury trial in Article I, Sections 5 and 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution "includes the right to a unanimous verdict." *Holland v. State*, 91 Wis. 2d 134, 138, 280 N.W.2d 288 (1979). The court has described the jury unanimity and due process requirements as linked. *Id*.

However, there is an important corollary to the principle that due process requires that the State prove all elements of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. That corollary is that a defendant "has no due process right . . . to proof beyond a reasonable doubt of elements *not* necessary to constitute the crime charged[.]" *United States v. Inman*, 558 F.3d 742, 748 (8th Cir. 2009) (quoted with approval in *State v. Beamon*, 2011 WI App 131, ¶ 9, 336 Wis. 2d 438, 804 N.W.2d 706).

> 3. Regarding Hearsay And The Confrontation Clause.

The Confrontation Clause of the United States Constitution guarantees that: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right...to be confronted with the witnesses against him[.]" U.S. Const. amend. VI. The Wisconsin Constitution provides the same guarantee. See Wis. Const. art. I, § 7.

The right of confrontation applies only to statements that are "testimonial." *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 51 (2004); *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 821 (2006). In *Crawford*, the United States Supreme Court held that "[t]estimonial statements of witnesses absent from trial [are admissible] only where the declarant is unavailable, and only where the defendant has had a prior opportunity to crossexamine." 541 U.S. at 59. The Court defined "witnesses' against the accused" as "those who 'bear testimony." *Id.* at 51. The Court in turn defined "testimony" as a "solemn declaration or affirmation made for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact." *Id.* (citation omitted).

Hearsay "is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Wis. Stat. § 908.01(3); *Jones v. Basinger*, 635 F.3d 1030, 1041 (7th Cir. 2011). Indeed, the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment applies only to testimonial statements that are offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 59-60.

And, as the Seventh Circuit recognized in *United States v. Ellis*, 460 F.3d 920, 923 (7th Cir. 2006), *Davis* explicitly stated that the admission of nontestimonial hearsay is not subject to the constraints of the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause.

"While 'a circuit court's decision to admit evidence is ordinarily a matter for the court's discretion, whether the admission of evidence violates a defendant's right to confrontation is a question of law subject to independent appellate review." State v. Deadwiller, 2013 WI 75, ¶ 17, 350 Wis. 2d 138, 834 N.W.2d 362 (citation omitted).

- B. APPLICATION OF PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS TO FACTS OF THIS CASE.
 - The Single Charge 1. Of Which Vandyke Was Convicted Did Not Violate His Right To Jurv Unanimity. Consequently, Counsel Did Not Perform Deficiently In Failing To Object, And VanDyke Was Not Prejudiced In Any Event.

VanDyke argues that he was deprived of his right to a unanimous verdict because the evidence reflected in the criminal complaint and Information alleged two possible delivery points for the heroin that killed Cole Trittin. VanDyke's brief at 11-15. He contends his trial counsel, Attorney Daniel Muza, was ineffective for failing to challenge this alleged infirmity, for failing to request Wis. JI-Criminal 517 (2010), which instructs the jury that its verdict must be uniform, and for failing to request a more specific jury verdict form. VanDyke's brief at 15-23.

For reasons that follow, Attorney Muza did not perform deficiently, and, in any event, VanDyke's defense was not prejudiced.

a. Deficient performance.

VanDyke was charged with one count of first-degree reckless homicide, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.02(2) (see 1; 8). This crime is comprised of four elements: 1) the defendant delivered a substance; 2) the substance was a prohibited controlled substance; 3) the defendant knew or believed that the substance was a prohibited controlled substance; and, 4) the victim used the substance and died as a result of that use. See Wis. JI- Criminal 1021 (2011). The jury here was instructed consistent with those elements (77:309-11).

Notably, proof of a date-certain delivery is not listed as an element of the crime. Thus, there was no error in the criminal complaint, information, or ultimately the jury verdict forms that were filed in this case, and Attorney Muza had no reason to object to same.

As is evident from the complaint, police had received evidence that on April 13, 2011, VanDyke left his car door open so that Zachary Jungwirth, a mutual friend and heroin user, could pick the heroin up and then deliver it to Trittin (1:2, 4-5). Jungwirth told police that Jungwirth did so because Trittin owed money to their dealer, and thus VanDyke would not sell to Trittin (*id*). VanDyke denied this sale, saying only that Jungwirth had in fact stolen the bindle of heroin from his vehicle (1:5). Unfortunately, by trial, Jungwirth had himself died of a heroin overdose, and so his testimony could not be obtained (76:213-14).

However, police had <u>also</u> received evidence that Trittin was driven to a park and ride the following night on April 13, 2011, by his father Bud Trittin (1:6). Bud testified that Cole told his him that he was meeting Jungwirth's father because his son had overdosed on heroin the previous day (*id.*; 76:182-88). However, based on later text messages, law enforcement suspected that Cole Trittin actually picked heroin from VanDyke at the park and ride that night (1:6). That is consistent with Cole asking Bud for \$20 immediately before meeting with the unidentified individual, and going nowhere else (76:185-88, 206). Trittin was found dead by his father the following day (1:1; 8; 76:177-78).

Thus, both charging documents fully and fairly informed VanDyke of the evidence against him, including who provided that information and how it was authenticated, and described in requisite detail why VanDyke was being charged (*see* 1; 8). Thus, the complaint was not duplicitous because it charged VanDyke with one count for one crime: delivering the heroin that killed Trittin. VanDyke's single charge for a single death did not risk allowing the jury to return a "disunited" verdict: they could only find that VanDyke delivered a substance, that substance was heroin, that VanDyke knew what the substance was (heroin again), and that use of that heroin killed another (Trittin).

Indeed, as this court is well aware, and as the jury was instructed, a criminal complaint, and a subsequent Information, are solely allegations against the defendant, subject to later proof at trial (*see* 77:60-63 (defining evidence, declaring the presumption of innocence, obligation to proof every element is on the State); 77:312-13 (quoting Wis. JI-Criminal 145 (2000)) (Information not evidence)). In a similar vein, opening arguments are just that: argument, not evidence, and a preview of what evidence the State hopes to show at trial. Here, the State had obtained information that tended to show that Zachary Jungwirth had taken heroin from VanDyke's Jeep on April 13, 2011 (1:2, 4-5; 76:96-102) The State included that information with particularity and identifying the source, date, and time of that information, including corresponding text messages that supported the theory, and previewed it for the jury in opening arguments (76:68-74). The State also alluded to the park and ride meeting the following day (76:71-72).

Likewise, the jury verdict form, filled out by the jury after having been properly instructed by the circuit court on the elements of the crime as well as the need for total uniformity regarding VanDyke's guilt or innocence in delivering the heroin that killed Trittin, was entirely proper. Attorney Muza requested and received Wis. JI-Criminal 515 (2012), which states: "This is a criminal, not civil, case; therefore, before the jury may return a verdict which may legally be the verdict reached received. must be *unanimously*. In a criminal case, all twelve jurors must agree in order to arrive at a verdict" (19:1; 77:362-63 (emphasis supplied)).

Thus, there was no error in the criminal complaint, Information, or jury verdict forms that were filed against VanDyke.

This conclusion is well supported by Wisconsin caselaw. In *State v. Fawcett* 145 Wis. 2d 244, 426 N.W.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1988), the defendant challenged the sufficiency of a complaint that alleged that he engaged in two instances of sexual contact with a ten-year-old boy over a span of six months. *See id.* at 247. This court stated the basic principles involved:

The criminal complaint is a self-contained charge which must set forth facts that are sufficient, in themselves or together with reasonable inferences to which they give rise, to allow a reasonable person to conclude that a crime was probably committed and that the probably defendant isculpable. The sufficiency of a pleading is a question of law which we review independently on appeal. Whether a depravation of a constitutional right has occurred is a question of fact which constitutional we also independently review as a question of law.

A criminal charge must be sufficiently stated to allow the defendant to plead and prepare a defense. However, where the date of the commission of the crime is not a material element of the offense charged, it need not be precisely alleged.

Id. at 250 (citations omitted). Cf. State v. Conner, 2011 WI 8, ¶ 28, 331 Wis. 2d 352, 795 N.W.2d 750 (holding, in a stalking case with adult victims, that the complaint gave sufficient notice when it listed twenty-seven dates on which specific acts occurred).

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